IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERMAINE LEBRON,

Appellant,

vs.

APPEAL NO. SC02-1956

CR96-2147

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR OSCEOLA COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTORNEY A LAW FLORIDA BAR NO. 322059

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This cause comes before this Curt as a result of the Appellant Jermaine Lebron, being resentenced to death following resentencing proceedings conducted pursuant to this Court's opinion in Lebron v. State, 799 So. 2d 1997 (Fla. 2001). The record on appeal consists of a total of seventeen (17) volumes, including two (2) supplemental volumes. The volume number on appeal will be referenced using Roman numerals. The trial clerk failed to put any page numbers on the materials contained in the supplemental volumes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jermaine Lebron, the Appellant in this case, was charged by Indictment with First Degree Murder and Robbery with a Firearm of Larry Oliver, in the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Osceola County, Florida on October 28, 1996. (I,R107) Mr. Lebron was

convicted of First Degree Murder and Robbery with a Firearm and was sentenced to death for the First Degree Murder and life imprisonment for the Robbery with a Firearm. He subsequently appealed those convictions and sentences to this Court.

On August 30, 2001, this Court issued an opinion that appeal. The convictions for First Degree Murder and Robbery with a Firearm were affirmed, but the sentence of death was reversed and a new penalty phase was ordered. (I,R3-55) The mandate was issued on

1

December 3, 2001. (I,R1)

On May 13, 2002, a new jury for the penalty phase was impaneled and the penalty phase proceedings were conducted with Belvin Perry, circuit judge presiding. (I,R72-75)

Prior to the closing argument Mr. Lebron requested that trial counsel be discharged, and that he be allowed to represent himself. (I,R73;XV,R979-1003) Mr. Lebron sought the discharge of his trial counsel because he did not wish trial counsel to give a closing argument. (XV,R979-990) The trial court allowed Mr. Lebron to discharge his trial counsel, and then ordered trial counsel to act as stand-by counsel.(XV,R1011-1012) Although the State gave a closing argument, the defense did not make a closing argument based on Mr. Lebron's decision to waive closing argument.

The jury returned an advisory recommendation that the death penalty be imposed by a vote of 7 to 5. (I,R75,88;XV,R1040)

Following the penalty phase proceeding before the jury, trial counsel was reappointed to represent Mr. Lebron at his request and the court then set a <u>Spencer</u> hearing for June 19, 2002. (I,R89;V,R195-215) At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, defense counsel requested that the court review the written sentencing memorandum submitted by defense counsel during the prior proceedings. (V,R196) Defense counsel also requested that the court review the four exhibits previously entered into evidence, which included the deposition of Jocelyn Ortiz, Jermaine's school records, and two

2

sets of Jermaine's institutional records from the Pleasantville Cottage School. (I,R199) Defense counsel argued that these records corroborated the testimony of Dr. McClane presented during the penalty phase proceedings before the jury. (V,R199) Counsel also requested that the trial court consider the circumstances surrounding the convictions relating the Nasser incident in that were committed in response to Nasser's attempted rape of Jermaine's friend. (V,R200)

Defense counsel noted that the jury's vote of 7 to 5 in the instant case occurred in a penalty phase proceeding in which the State gave a closing argument, and there was no closing argument

by the defense. (V,R201-202)

Defense counsel reminded the trial court that one aggravating factor found in the trial court's first sentencing order had been stricken by this Court. (V,R202) In addition, the prior felonies relating to Nasser that were relied on in the first proceeding had been reversed for a new trial, and Mr. Lebron had been convicted of significantly lesser offenses at a new trial.(V,R202)

Mrs. Oliver, the mother of Larry Oliver, addressed the trial court. (V,R206) The State also requested that their prior written sentencing memorandum be used. (V,R196) The State asserted that Dr. McClane's testimony lessened the weight of the mitigation in the instant proceeding, as opposed to the mitigation in the first penalty phase. (V,R207-208)

2

On August 6, 2002, Mr. Lebron filed a motion in which he sought to bar the imposition of the death penalty pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 122 s. cT. 2428 (2002). (I,R93-105) The trial court denied the motion. (I,R106)

Mr. Lebron appeared for sentencing on August 15, 2002. (VI,R217-262) The trial court imposed a sentence of death for the First Degree Murder and a sentence of life imprisonment for the Robbery with a Firearm. (I,R134-136) The sentencing order was read in open court. (VI,R217-262)

The trial court's sentencing order was also filed on August 15, 2002. (I,R107-132) In the sentencing order the trial court found two aggravating factors:

- (1) The defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to a person.
- (2) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in or was an accomplice in the commission of the crime of robbery.

The trial court found the following mitigating factors and assigned the following weight:

- (1) Prenatal problems Drug addicted mother Very little weight.
- (2) School Performance Some weight.
- (3) Interpersonal Good with children-Very little weight.
- (4) Parent Profile-Very little weight.
- (5) Neglect-Some weight.
- (6) Incarceration-no escapes; maintaining family contact Very little weight.

4

(7) Psychological-Very little weight due to lack of link between emotional problems, mental health problems, and mother's deficiencies and the murder.

The trial court rejected the following mitigating factors which were requested by trial counsel:

Statutory

(1) The Defendant was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor. The court acknowledged that the

verdict had determined that the victim was killed by someone other than Jermaine and that Jermaine had a firearm during the robbery.

Non-Statutory

- (1) Disparate treatment of Co-Defendants.
- (2) Domestic Violence.
- (3) Race.
- (4) Urban Resident.
- (5) Institutionalization.
- (6) Childhood Accidents.

The trial court then conducted an Enmund-Tyson Analysis to determine the relative culpability of the co-defendants.

(I,R129) The court found that Mr. Lebron was a major participant in the felony and was recklessly indifferent to human life. (I,R131)

The trial court found that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors. (I,R131)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on August 21, 2002. (I,R145)

5

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following summarizes the evidence and testimony presented

during the penalty phase proceedings before the jury:

STATE PRESENTATION

Rebecca Oliver testified that she is the mother of the victim, Larry Oliver. (XII,R566) She described the victim as energetic, very funny, a happy-go-lucky person. (XII,R567) The victim was an avid soccer player and his mother went to most of his games. (XII,R568)

The victim worked two jobs- one at the Marriott World Center as a server, and the second at Umbro, a retail store. (XII,R569) The victim had a truck that was very special to him. (XII,R570)

Mrs. Oliver was then permitted to read a prepared statement. (IXII,R572) The trial court did require that references in the statement addressed to the victim be deleted. (XII,R573) Mrs. Oliver prefaced her reading the prepared statement with the comment that she had written this as a eulogy at his funeral. (XII,R573)

Larry Oliver, Sr., is Mr. Oliver's father. (XII,R575) He testified that Mr. Oliver was a great kid, very nice, and very kind to people. (XII,R576) Mr. Oliver recounted some memories of the victim as a child. (XII,R578) He stated that the victim did not have a definite career path, but that he wanted to help people.

6

(XII,R578) The victim's death affected him deeply. (XII,R579) He repaired the victim's truck and drives it daily. (XII,R579)

Charissa Wilburn testified that she met Mr. Lebron in 1995 through her boyfriend, Mark Tocci and his twin brother, Joe. (XII,R582) Jermaine went by the nickname "Bugsy". (XII,R583) During this period, Wilburn and the Tocci twins were part of a group of kids which included Duane Sapp, Mary Lineberger, Vern Williams, and Danny Summers. (XII,R584) The Toccis, Sapp, and Williams all had matching tattoos that said "Foreplay". (XII,R623) Those four had known each other for years and were like brothers. (XII,R624) Mr. Lebron joined this existing group when he began to hang out with Joe Tocci. (XII,R584)

The Toccis, Williams, and Sapp all lived together in a house on Gardenia. (XII,R584) At some point in time, Mr. Lebron moved into the house. (XII,R585)

On the night of the murder, Mark Tocci and Wilburn left her parents home to meet the others at Kinko's. (XII,R586) Mr. Lebron needed to "fake" some school papers in order to get money from his mother. (XII,R587) They had a problem at Kinko's, so Danny Summers, Mr. Lebron, Wilburn, and Mark Tocci then went to Mary Lineberger's parent's home. (XII,R588) They messed around on the computer, watched some TV, and then decided to leave. (XII,R588)

While they were driving, a red pickup truck pulled up beside them at a traffic light. (XII,R589) Summers said he knew the

driver, Larry Oliver. (XII,R589) Summers and Mr. Oliver had worked together at Marriott. (XII,R590) Mr. Lebron told Summers to get Mr. Oliver to pull over, and Mr. Oliver did. (XII,R590)

Mr. Oliver started talking about parts he wanted for his truck. (XII,R590) Mr. Lebron told Summers to tell Mr. Oliver that he had the parts for his truck. (XII,R590) Mr. Lebron told Summers to tell Mr. Oliver to come back to the house on gardenia to look at them. (XII,R591)

Mr. Lebron had a gun in the truck with him. (XII,R591) It was a shotgun that Mr. Lebron called "Betsy". (XII,R591) Wilburn claimed that she could not remember anyone else in the group with this gun, although she admitted that she remembered seeing a picture of Joe Tocci with the gun. (XII,R616) On cross-examination, Wilburn acknowledged that during her previous testimony she had admitted to seeing Mark Tocci with the gun. (XII,R636-637) Wilburn then stated she did remember Mark Tocci with the gun. (XII,R637) Wilburn then agreed with her prior testimony that most of the guys (Summers, Sapp, and Williams) had handled the gun. (XII,R638) Wilburn testified that the gun was kept in a closet and that all of them had access to it. (XII,R638)

As they were driving back to the house on Gardenia, Wilburn testified that Mr. Lebron was very excited and was saying things like "I'm going to jack him"; "Watch what I can do"; "I'm going

Wilburn also testified that she heard Mr. Lebron say "I'm going to kill him". (XII,R592;609) On cross-examination she admitted that she had never claimed to hear this before and that she did not remember him saying this exactly. (XII,R631) Previously, she did not remember Mr. Lebron saying that he was going to kill Mr. Oliver, only that he would "jack" or rob him. (XII,R631) After her prior testimony was read back to her, Wilburn stated that Mr. Lebron did not say that he was going to kill Mr. Oliver. (XII,R633)

Wilburn did not know what to make of what Mr. Lebron was saying, so she asked Mark Tocci what he meant. (XII,R592) Tocci just shrugged. (XII,R592) Wilburn did not think Mr. Lebron was capable of doing something like that. (XII,R610)

When they arrived at the house on Gardenia, Mr. Oliver pulled in behind them. (XII,R593) Mr. Lebron tossed the gun into Wilburn's lap. (XII,R593) The gun was wrapped up. (XII,R610) He told her to take it into the house. (XII,R593) Wilburn took the gun into the house and put it on Joe Tocci's bed. (XII,R594) She then went across the hall into Mark Tocci's bedroom. (XII,R594)

Wilburn did not know what was going to happen. (XII,R595)

She thought there might be some violence, but she made no

attempt to warn Mr. Oliver. (XII,R595)

Later, Mark Tocci came into the room and sat next to Wilburn. (XII,R596) Mark said that nothing was going on. (XII,R596) Mr.

9

Lebron then came into the room and asked Mark to come out of the bedroom. Mark left. (XII,R596)

Wilburn then heard the stereo turned up and Mr. Lebron screaming at someone to get down. (XII,R596) She next heard a gunshot. (XII,R597) Mr. Lebron then came into the room and told Wilburn that she could get up, and that it was done. (XII,R597) Mark came in and got her and Mark and Wilburn went outside and left. (XII,R598) Wilburn admitted that Mr. Lebron did not threaten her or try to stop her from leaving. (XII,R641) Wilburn could not give a reason why she did not go to the police at that point.(XII,R641)

At the time the shots were fired, Wilburn thought that Mark, Mr. Lebron, Summers and herself were the only people in the house. (XII,R599) Wilburn did not know who killed Mr. Oliver. (XII,R610) She loved her boyfriend and did not want to see him, his brother, or Summers get into trouble. (XII,R611)

Mark and Wilburn returned to the house. (XII,R599) Mr. Lebron was sitting on the couch looking through Mr. Oliver's wallet. (XII,R599) Joe Tocci, Summers, Lineberger and Sapp were

at the house. (XII,R599) Wilburn saw Williams and Sapp pulling the body out of the house. (XII,R600;644)

Wilburn then stated did not call the police because she was afraid of Mr. Lebron. (XII,R600) She also admitted that she did not call the police because she knew her boyfriend and other

10

friends were involved and did not want to see them in trouble. (XII,R611;622-623)

The next day Wilburn, both Toccis, Mr. Lebron, Summers, and Sapp went to the Hooter's restaurant in downtown Orlando. (XII,R601) Mr. Oliver's credit card was used to pay for the meal. (XII,R620)

At some point in time, Wilburn learned that Sapp's truck had been on the news because it had been photographed at a bank where Sapp was cashing a check belonging to Mr. Oliver. (XII,R602) At that point, they discussed going to the police. (XII,R614) Wilburn thought if she kept saying things happened because she was afraid of Mr. Lebron, she would not be charged with anything. (XII,R617)

A week later, she went to the house on Gardenia and discovered that the police were there. (XII,R602) Wilburn agreed to talk to them. She was ultimately charged with Accessory After the Fact. (XII,R603) She pled to the charge, and served two years in prison and two years on probation.

(XII,R603) Wilburn served only seven months in prison before being placed on work release. (XII,R648)

Sergeant Andrew Lang was a detective who investigated the death of Mr. Oliver. (XII,R676) He was at the sheriff's office when Mark Tocci, Joe Tocci, and Duane Sapp came in to report that Joe Tocci's vehicle had been stolen and was possibly en route to New York. (XII,R676)

After further talking with these individuals, Duane Sapp took

11

the law enforcement officers to Mr. Oliver's body. (XII,R677) The body was recovered from an orange grove. (XII,R678) An attempt had been made to conceal the body. (XII,R678) An autopsy determined that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the back of the head. (XII,R680)

Lang went to the house on Gardenia. (XII,R681) There was a strong odor present in the house. (XII,R681) There was a large area of blood found when the bedroom door to Joe Tocci's room was opened. (XII,R681) A towel, sponges, and kitty litter were found near the blood. This showed an attempt to clean up the blood. (XII,R684)

Williams and Sapp turned themselves in to the Connecticut State Police. (XII,R685) Lineberger and Wilburn showed up at the house on Gardenia while investigators were there and they

were arrested at this scene. (XII,R685)

Mr. Lebron was arrested in New York City. (XII,R686) Stacy Kirk and Howard Kendall were with Mr. Lebron. (XII,R686) They had Joe Tocci's truck. (XII,R686) A day planner and an insurance card belonging to Mr. Oliver were found in the truck. (XII,R687) A Winchester 4 shotgun shell was also found in the truck. (XII,R692)

Lang learned the following information regarding this case, which he was allowed to testify to over the objection of defense counsel (XII,R687-690;695-696):

Danita Sullivan was Mr. Lebron's girlfriend. (XII,R692)

12

Sullivan claimed that Mr. Lebron told her that he shot Mr. Oliver after having him get on his knees and putting his hands behind his head. (XII,R692)

Christine Charbonnier, another girlfriend of Mr. Lebron's, stated that Mr. Lebron told her he was looking for an alibi for the night of the murder. (XII,R698) Mr. Lebron told Charbonnier how the murder happened, and that he put Mr. Olvier on the floor and shot him. (XII,R699)

Charbonnier was interviewed two years after Mr. Lebron's arrest. (XII,R719) She came forward after getting letters from Mr. Lebron asking her to provide an alibi. (XIII,R739)

Jesenia Ortiz was the sister of a person who was in jail

with Mr. Lebron. (XII,R701) Mr. Lebron offered her \$20,000 if she would provide him with an alibi for the night of the murder. (XII,R701) She said that he told her he committed the murder. (XII,R701) After an objection by defense counsel, Lang clarified his testimony and said that Ortiz said that Mr. Lebron never said he was the shooter, but with hand gestures he indicated that he was. (XII,R703)

Stacy Kirk was arrested with Mr. Lebron. (XII,R704) She provided information about how the murder allegedly occurred based on information that Mr. Lebron told her. (XII,R704) Kirk told law enforcement officers that Mr. Lebron screamed at Mr. Oliver, then put his foot on Mr. Oliver's head and shot him. (XII,R705) Kirk

13

and Lineberger were roommates. (XII,R705) Shotgun shells were also found in Kirk's purse at the time of her arrest. (XIII,R726)

Lang acknowledged that during an investigation some people tell the truth and others do not. (XIII,R724)

Lang stated that in his investigation there was no individual who stated they saw Mark Tocci shoot Mr. Oliver. (XII,R705)

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial with respect to this testimony, arguing that testimony that Mr. Lebron was the

shooter was in contravention to the opinion of this Court and inadmissible based on the prior jury's finding of fact in their verdict that MR. Lebron was not the shooter. (XII,R707-711) The motion was denied.

Lang knew that Danny Summers was the person who got Mr. Oliver to stop. (XIII,R724) Summers had fled thejurisdiction and did not turn himself in until December. (XIII,R725) Vern Williams fled with Summers. (XIII,R725-26)

Lang's investigation confirmed that Sapp, Williams, Linegerger, and Wilburn attempted to clean up the house on Gardenia. (XIII,R726)

Lang's investigation developed that Sapp and Howard Kendall got rid of Mr. Oliver's truck and tried to burn it. (XIII,R727) Lang's investigation also developed that Sapp and Williams dumped the body. (XIII,R727)

Property belonging to Mr. Oliver was found in the house on Gardenia. (XIII,R727) A CD binder with over one hundred CDs was

14

found. (XIII,R727) Various pieces of Mr. Oliver's jewelry were found throughout the house. (XIII,R727) Mr. Oliver's rings were found in Vern William's bedroom. (XIII,R729)Mr. Oliver's jewelry was also found on the mantel and in a dish in the kitchen. (XIII,R729) Different items from Mr. Oliver's truck were found in the garage. (XIII,R727)

Sapp and Joe Tocci pawned various items taken off of Mr. Oliver's truck. (XIII,R728) Mr. Lebron was present at the pawn shop according to Joe Tocci and Sapp. (XIII,R733) An employee of the pawn shop was shown Mr. Lebron's photo and could not identify him. (XIII,R743)

When Mr. Oliver's credit card was used at Hooters the day after the murder, Sapp signed the credit card payment slip.

(XIII,R728) Mr. Lebron was also at Hooters. He left his telephone number with a waitress. (XIII,R743)

Sapp and Mark Tocci cashed a check belonging to Mr. Oliver. (XIII,R728) They claimed that Mr. Lebron was with them, but security photographs taken that day showed only two people in the car. (XIII,R733-734)

None of Mr. Oliver's possessions were found on Mr. Lebron's person. (XIII,R729) Mr. Lebron's handwriting was found in Mr. Oliver's day planner. (XIII,R734)

Detective Mark Thompson also worked on this case. (XIII,R745) He interviewed Wilburn and prepared a written report of that

15

interview. (XIII,R746) According to his report, Wilburn told Thompson that Mr. Lebron said he wanted to jack someone that evening and kill someone, though not Mr. Oliver specifically. (XIII,R749)

The State then requested that a certified copy of the New York conviction for a prior violent felony be moved into evidence.

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