IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERMAINE LEBRON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC02-1956

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

DOUGLAS T. SQUIRE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0088730

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Telephone: (386)238-4990 Facsimile: (386)226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

"A trial court has wide discretion in areas concerning the admission of evidence, and, unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its rulings will not be disturbed." San Martin v. State, 717 So.2d 462, 470-71 (Fla. 1998)(citing Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1162-63 (Fla. 1981)).

Argument

¹As this was not a challenge for cause, whether or not Mrs. Nelson-Brown "could lay aside that opinion and consider it as a punishment" (IB, 31), is not relevant. <u>See Barnhill v. State</u>, 834 So.2d 836, 843-46 (Fla. 2002), <u>cert. denied</u>, 123 S.Ct. 2281 (2003).

Lebron argues that "[a] new penalty phase is required in which the State is specifically forbidden to present evidence and to argue or imply to the new jury that Mr. Lebron was the shooter and that the prior jury finding could be ignored."

(IB, 37). The State respectfully disagrees.

Here, as in <u>San Martin</u>, there was no abuse of discretion in the admission of the evidence at issue as Lebron's involvement in the robbery and murder was pertinent both to the penalty that could be imposed² and, ultimately, to the applicability of the "committed during the commission of the crime of robbery" aggravator³. <u>Id.</u>

This Court ordered a new penalty phase because, although the trial court "correctly analyzed Lebron's relative culpability, as compared to the other known participants, based upon its finding - which is supported by the evidence adduced at trial - that the record was 'totally devoid of any evidence of anyone else being responsible for the murder of

²Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 157-58 (1987); Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 801 (1982)(holding an individual cannot be sentenced to death for felony murder by an accomplice unless the jury finds the defendant killed the victim, intended that the victim be killed, intended that lethal force be used, or acted with reckless indifference to human life).

³Section 921.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes (1994), provides that it is an aggravating circumstance if the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged, or an accomplice, in the commission of the crime of robbery.

the victim," it was error for the trial court to conclude that "'the evidence established beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant murdered Larry Neal Oliver, Jr.'" as that conclusion was contrary to the jury's special verdict. Lebron, 799 So.2d at 1020-21. This ruling highlights the problem created by the jury's special verdict. If Lebron is more culpable than any of the known participants, but he is at the same time not the shooter, then there must be an unknown participant - the "shooter." However, there is no evidence to support the existence of another participant/shooter.

Legal fiction is defined⁴ as an assumption of fact made by a court as a basis for deciding a legal question. As there is no evidence in this case of an unknown participant, this Court's implicit reference to an unknown participant can only be an assumption of fact based on the jury's special verdict. Notwithstanding the legal fiction that may⁵ accompany the jury's special verdict in this case, the desire for a factually supported verdict does not authorize the creation of evidence. Below, the State was bound by the evidence as it

⁴Black's Law Dictionary 894 (6th ed. 1990).

 $^{^{5}}$ It cannot be established that the jury's special verdict was anything more than a jury pardon.

existed, and could not create, or change, any evidence to comply with this Court's assumption of an unknown participant.

During the State's opening argument, Lebron objected to the State's presentation of circumstantial evidence that "put everybody in a position where they couldn't kill Mr. Oliver except for Jermaine Lebron," and argued that putting this evidence before the jury violated this Court's ruling that Lebron's sentence "must be based on the evidence that he was not the shooter." (R, 502). The trial court, translating this Court's opinion, ruled that:

(1) this jury, nor can this court, predicate any sentence based upon the fact that Mr. Lebron himself was the shooter. But this court, nor did the Supreme Court, indicate that we were to manufacture evidence or change the testimony of any witness or change the testimony of any facts.

It simply translates to me that in order to assess the defendant's culpability in the light of the

the defendant's culpability in the light of the facts

established by the record, that the testimony is the

testimony. That was what the testimony was. Now, why

that jury found that, I don't know. They found it and

we're stuck with it. But the Supreme Court, in none of these instructions, say to come in here and change the

facts of the testimony. They didn't say, come in here

and pull the wool over anybody's eyes about the testimony.

At the appropriate time in my instructions, I will include a special instruction to them that they cannot

predicate any of these aggravating factors on the fact

that he was the shooter, but they can assess his relative participation. And the only way to determine his relative participation is to present the unadulterated facts based upon testimony.

If I'm wrong, the Florida Supreme Court will tell

me. And that's what that particular paragraph means to me. It doesn't mean to come in here and create new

facts. Those are the facts. We're stuck with it just

like we're stuck with the fact that the jury found that he was not the shooter.

With that said, your objection is noted and it will be overruled.

(R, 505-07).

Before this Court, Lebron specifically identifies the testimony of witnesses Lang and Wilburn as inadmissible opinion testimony that "no one other than Mr. Lebron was the shooter." (IB, 34-35). However, when the State asked witness Wilburn whether she knew any information that would indicate that Mark Tocci killed Larry Oliver, Lebron objected to the question because it called for an opinion; and, the trial court sustained the objection. (R, 653-54). When the State asked Wilburn whether she had seen Mark shoot Oliver, heard Mark say he shot Oliver, heard Lebron say Mark shot Oliver, or heard anyone say Mark shot Oliver, Lebron raised no

objections. (R, 654). Similarly, when the State asked witness Lang whether, from his investigation, there was any evidence implicating Mark Tocci as the person who shot Larry Oliver, Lebron objected to the question because it called for an opinion; and, the trial court sustained the objection. (R, 705). When the State asked Lang whether any individual had indicated they saw Mark Tocci shoot Oliver, heard from Mark Tocci that he killed Oliver, or heard from anybody that Mark Tocci killed Oliver, Lebron raised no objections. (R, 706). As the trial court sustained Lebron's objections and prohibited the alleged opinion testimony, Lebron cannot show that the jury was prejudiced by opinions it never heard.

At the close of Lang's direct testimony, Lebron moved for either a mistrial or a curative instruction based on the admission of the statements by Lebron that he had killed Larry Neal Oliver. (R, 707-08). However, the trial court had already given the following limited admissibility instruction at the request of the defense:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the evidence that you are hearing now has to do with assessing the defendant's relative culpability in light of the facts established by the record; that is, what his degree of participation in his defense (sic) is.

It is also admissible for the fact of showing that no other known participant was proven to be the shooter.

As I have indicated to you earlier is that a special finding by the jury found that the defendant, Jermaine Lebron, did not actually pull the trigger or kill Mr. Oliver. The jury found that Larry Neal Oliver was killed by a person other than Jermaine Lebron.

Your finding, and whatever those findings may be in this particular case, cannot be predicated upon a finding that he was, quote, the shooter, unquote, but must be whatever you find predicated on his degree of

participation in this event of murder in the first degree.

So this evidence is limited to that particular function. His degree of participation and whether or not any other known participant was proved to be the shooter. Again, I instruct you that whatever evaluation you make in deciding these aggravating factors or mitigating factors cannot be premised upon the finding that Mr. Lebron was himself the shooter. It must be premised upon his level of participation in the offense.

(R, 699-700).

The trial court, therefore, denied Lebron's motion stating:

I have given a limited instruction and in fashioning that limited instruction, I have quoted liberally from the opinion of the Florida Supreme Court in this particular matter.

The Florida Supreme Court did not give any direction whatsoever when it talked about evidence of this defendant's participation in the homicide of Larry Neal Oliver.

The Florida Supreme Court did not go back and ask me to go in and restructure the testimony of

witnesses who raised their hands, under oath, and testified. Their testimony is their testimony. can't change it; you can't change it; and the Florida Supreme Court should not change it. But they, as you say, are the Supreme Court and they can do whatever they want to do. And we have to respect that since they are the Supreme Court. But the facts are the facts. The Supreme Court indicated that any sentence in this particular case cannot be predicated on the fact that he was the shooter. Just like we assume that the jury in the last trial understood all of the instructions, understood all of the evidence, and we're giving that verdict great deference as to the special finding that Larry Neal Oliver was killed by a person other than Jermaine Lebron.

I would hope and trust that these twelve individuals here will take their oath just as serious as that last jury that took their oath. I have instructed them and will instruct them that any decision that they reach, whatever that is, in determining the absence or presence of aggravating or mitigating factors cannot be predicated on the fact that he was the shooter. But that evidence is relevant and material in determining and assessing (1) his participation; and (2) that no other known participant was a shooter.

Now, I'm not good at smoking mirrors and I have ruled. If I am wrong, then I am quite sure that the men and women of the Florida Supreme Court, at some point in time, will tell me that. But I have ruled for better or worse. You have perfected your record. I will give you, if you would like, Mr. Slovis and Mr. Norgard, a standing objection.

(R, 710-11). (See also the trial court's final instructions to the jury during which the jury was twice told that it could not recommend a sentence premised upon a finding that Lebron was the shooter in the death of Larry Neal Oliver, Jr.) (R, 1016-17).

Consequently, the issue before this Court is whether

Lebron can show reversible error when the State presented the

facts as they existed, when the Court twice specifically

instructed the jury that it could not base its recommendation

on a finding that Lebron was the shooter, and when Lebron has

not come forward with any vestige of proof that the jury

violated those instructions.

Lebron argues that the jury was tainted by evidence that implicated Lebron as the shooter; however, this jury heard no more evidence that Lebron was the shooter than did the jury that specifically found that he was not the shooter and yet also recommended his death. Thus, it is not clear, based on the juries identical recommendations, what prejudice Lebron claims resulted. Given the complete absence of any indication that this jury violated the trial court's instructions not to base their recommendation on Lebron having been the shooter, and the presumption that the jury followed the trial judge's instructions⁶, the instant record only supports a finding that both juries simply found the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances.

 $^{^6}$ See e.g. Carter v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 778 So.2d 932, 942 (Fla. 2000)(citing Sutton v. State, 718 So.2d 215, 216 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 1998)).

This Court has explained "that inconsistent verdicts are allowed because jury verdicts can be the result of lenity, and, therefore, verdicts do not always speak to the guilt or innocence of a defendant." State v. Connelly, 748 So.2d 248, 252 (Fla. 1999)(citing Fayson v. State, 698 So.2d 825, 826-27 (Fla. 1997)). Lebron's desire for a sentence "based on the evidence that he was not the shooter" does not authorize the creation of that evidence. Below, the State was bound by the evidence as it existed, and could not create, or change, any evidence to comply with this Court's assumption, based on the jury's special verdict, of an unknown participant. As the trial court so eloquently put it:

I would hope and trust that these twelve individuals here will take their oath just as serious as that last jury that took their oath. I have instructed them and will instruct them that any decision that they reach, whatever that is, in determining the absence or presence of aggravating or mitigating factors cannot be predicated on the fact that he was the shooter. But that evidence is relevant and material in determining and assessing (1) his participation; and (2) that no other known participant was a shooter.

Now, I'm not good at smoking mirrors and I have ruled. If I am wrong, then I am quite sure that the men and women of the Florida Supreme Court, at some point in time, will tell me that.

(R, 710-11).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE LEBRON'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY AND WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE NECESSARY TO DESCRIBE LEBRON'S CONVICTIONS FOR ROBBERY AND KIDNAPPING?

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

"If the ruling consists of a pure question of law, the ruling is subject to de novo review. See, e.g., Philip J.

Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 9.4 (2nd ed. 1997)."

State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So.2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001). If the ruling consists of a mixed question of law and fact addressing other issues, the ruling must be sustained if the trial court applied the right rule of law and its ruling is supported by competent substantial evidence. Id. Finally, regarding the testimony admitted, "[a] trial court has wide discretion in areas concerning the admission of evidence, and, unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its rulings will not be disturbed." San Martin v. State, 717 So.2d 462, 470-71 (Fla. 1998)(citing Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1162-63 (Fla. 1981)).

Argument

Lebron's first claim raised in this issue is that "[t]he determination by the trial court that evidence of a New York conviction was admissible evidence was error." (IB, 40). The State respectfully disagrees.

Lebron argues that the trial court's determination that Lebron's New York conviction was admissible is unsupported by competent substantial evidence. To support this statement, Lebron refers to the absence of additional evidence from the State to rebut Attorney Slovis's assertion that the New York documents actually reflected youthful offender treatment; however, Lebron cites to no authority for the trial court to defer to an unsupported argument by an advocate. Although Slovis claimed that the documents showed youthful offender treatment, he provided the trial court with no authority either from the New York documents, New York caselaw, New York statutes, or New York court rules, to support his claim. Further, the certificate of disposition signed by the New York clerk of court certifies a "crime convicted of." (SR, State's Exhibit 3). Moreover, Slovis conceded that Lebron was given "five years probation, the same as a felony." (R, 753). Thus, it would appear that it was Lebron's argument that was not supported by competent substantial evidence.

Nevertheless, the record reflects without dispute the presence of felony convictions of Lebron for robbery, kidnapping, and aggravated assault with a firearm to support the prior violent felony aggravator for his death sentence. Accordingly, any error in the admission of Lebron's New York attempted robbery conviction was harmless. See Henyard v. State, 689 So.2d 239, 252 (Fla. 1996)(finding improper admission of juvenile adjudication for robbery with a weapon harmless given presence of six other felony convictions to support the prior violent felony aggravator).

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